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Mr. Justice L. C. Gulbrandson delivered the Opinion of the 
Court. 

The Montana Board of Personnel Appeals (the BPA) and 

the Missoula County High School Education Association 

(MCHSEA) appeal a soula County District Court order which 

ruled that the l\1issoula County High School District (the 

School District) did not commit an unfair labor practice in 

violation of § 39-31-401, MCA. The District Court order 

reversed a BPA decision that the School District violated 

§ 39-31-401, MeA, by paying certain non-striking teachers for 

eighteen days of work where those teachers had agreed to work 

eighteen days but actual worked only one day. The issues 

on appeal are whether the District Court erred by reversing; 

(1) the BPA I S conclusion of law that the School District IS 

conduct was not justified by a legitimate, substantial, 

business necessity; (2) BPA's conclusion of law that the 

School District's action was inherently destructive of 

protected labor rights; and (3) the BPA I s finding of fact 

that the non-striking teachers were not available and on-call 

after June 4, 1981. We affirm 

MCHSEA is the recognized exclusive bargaining 

representative of the School District's non-supervisory 

certificated or licensed employees. On May 11, 1981, MCHSEA 

went on strike against the School District. The School 

District did not attempt to operate the Missoula schools 

during the first week of the strike. On June 1, 1981, the 

School District superintendent sent a letter to all members 

of bargaining unit. In pertinent part I that letter 

stat.ed: 



The school district has just received 
definite legal advice that our schools 
must open for 180 days in the 1980-81 
school year or we will lose $1.275 
million in state aid . 

. . . A $1.275 million cut would 
necessarily mean much larger class sizes, 
reduced curricular and extra-curricular 
offerings. 

Schools must open June 4, 1981 if this 
community is to maintain the quality of 
our school program for next year . 

High schools will open on June 5th for 
freshman, sophomore and junior classes 
. . . All high school teachers should 
notify their principal by 4:00 p.m. June 
3, 1981 indicating a willingness to work 
commencing with a PIR day at 8:00 a.m. 
June 4, 1981 ... 

Teachers returning June 4th to completion 
of the school year shall receive for the 
1980-81 school year an average 10.6% 
increase as per the attached salary 
schedule which includes increments and 
horizontal changes. This payment will be 
retroactive to August 27, 1980. All 
fringe benefits including insurance for 
June will be paid. 

Twenty teachers notified the School District's 

administration that they would return to work if the School 

District attempted to operate. The School Dist.rict opened 

the Missoula schools on June 4, 1981. Three teachers who had 

agreed to return did not do so because of either illness or 

family emergency_ After the first day and with what is 

described as good and sufficient reasons, the School 

District's Board of Trustees determined it would be 

inappropriate to continue the operation of the schools The 

School District made no further attempt to operate the 

schools for the balance of the 1980-81 school year. 

In April 1982, a ~1issoula attorney, representing one of 

the teachers who returned to work, sent a letter to the 
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Missoula County High School of Trustees. The 

s that the School District superintendent's June 1 

was an of of employment for a specific term; that 

the School District did not reserve the right to terminate 

the offer or any agreement arising therefrom; that, in the 

attorney's opinion, a contractual relationship existed 

between School strict and the teacher employment 

a specific number of days commencing on June 4, 1981, and 

ending on 180th of the 1980-81 school i and that 

the School District breached the agreement by refusing to pay 

t.he teacher for was prepared to perform. In July 

198 , the attorney sent another letter to the School District 

on behal of the same teacher. That letter again explained 

the is of the teacher's claim and stated that the teacher 

was seriously contemplating action. 

In September 1982, upon the advice of its attorney, the 

School District paid the twenty returning teachers for the 

remaining eighteen days they had agreed to teach. The School 

District 

period. 

not pay any of the striking teachers this 

In October 1982, the MCHSEA led an unfair labor 

charge with BPA alleging that the School 

District discriminated against those teachers who had 

supported the strike. The union sought: (1) reimbursement of 

all amounts deducted from striking teachers' sa 

because of their participation in the strike, (2 ) 

corresponding contributions to the teachers' retirement 

system. In June 1983, counsel for MCHSEA and counsel for 

School District agreed to a stipulation of which was 

submitted to the BPA. In December 1983, a hearing officer 
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from BPA issued his findings of fact, conclusion of 

and order ruling that the School District had committed 

unfair labor practices violating § 39-31--401 (1) and (3) I MCA. 

Specifically, the hearing officer ruled that the School 

District's conduct was inherently destructive of the public 

employees' self~organizational rights; that there was no 

substantial and legitimate business justification the 

School District's actions; and that the non-striking teachers 

were not on-call during the seventeen days in question. The 

School District filed exceptions t,o the hearing officer's 

decision with the BPA. The full BPA held an oral argument on 

this case in March 1984. In June 1984, the BPA issued its 

final order adopting the hearing examiner's findings of 

and conclusions of law. The BPA ordered the School District 

to stop violating § 39-31-401(1) and (3), MCA, and fashioned 

two alternative remedies to compensat.e the striking teachers. 

In July 1984, the School District led a petition for 

judicial review and for declaratory judgment with the 

Missoula County District Court. The BPA and the MCHSEA filed 

answers and the District Court, sitting without a jury, heard 

oral arguments in June 1985. In November 1985, the court 

entered its findings of fact, conclusions of law and order. 

The court made the following conclusions of law: in view of 

the evidence, the BPA clearly erred in finding that the 

teachers did not make themselves available and did not remain 

on-call after June 4, 1981; the BPA abused its discretion and 

committed an error of law by concluding that the School 

District was under no obligation to the teachers for more 

than one day of worlq the BPA abused its discretion and 

committed an error of law in concluding that the payment to 
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the teachers was inherently structive of protected rights 

and, therefore, no proof of anti-union motivation was 

required; and that the BPA abused its discretion and 

committed an error of law by concluding that the School 

District's conduct was clearly prohibited under § 39-31-401, 

MCA. This appeal followed. 

Section 39-31-401, MCA, provides in part: 

It is an unfair labor practice for a 
public employer to: 

(1) inter with, restrain, or coerce 
employees in the exercise of the rights 
guaranteed in 39-31-201; 

(3) discriminate in regard to hire or 
tenure of employment or any term or 
condition of employment in order to 
encourage or discourage membership in any 
labor organization; however, nothing in 
this chapter or in any other statute of 
this state precludes a public employer 
from making an agreement with an 
exclusive representative to require, as a 
condition of employment, that an employee 
who is not or does not become a union 
member, must have an amount equal to the 
union initiation fee and monthly dues 
deducted from his wages in the same 
manner as checkoff of union dues; ••• 

Section 39-31-201, MCA, provides: 

Public employees shall have and shall be 
protected in the exercise of the right of 
self-organization, to form, join, or 
ass any labor organization, to bargain 
collectively through representatives of 
their own choosing on questions of wages, 
hours, fringe benefits, and other 
condi tions of employment, and to engage 
in other concerted activities for the 
purpose of collective bargaining or other 
mutual aid or protection free from 
interference, restraint, or coercion. 

These statutes are virtually identical to parts of the 

federal National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), 29 U.S.C. § 157 

and § 158. This Court and the BPA both look to National 
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Labor Relations Board and federal court interpretations 0 

the NLRA guidance in interpreting the equivalent Montana 

statutes. Teamsters, Etc. v. St. Ex ReI Bd. of Personnel 

(1981), 195 Mont. 272, 635 P.2d 1310; State v. Dist. Court of 

Eleventh Jud. Dist. (1979), 183 Mont. 223, 598 P.2d 1117. 

Where, as here, a district court reviews an agency 

decision, the standard of review is set forth in Montana 

Administrative Procedure Act at § 2-4-704, MCA. The relevant 

portions of that statute state: 

Addres 

(2) The court not substitute 
judgment for that of the agency as to the 
weight of t.he evidence on questions of 
fact. The court may affirm the decision 
of the agency or remand case for 
further proceedings. The court may 
reverse or modify the decision if 
substantial rights of the appellant have 
been prejudiced because the 
administrative findings, inferences, 
conclusions, or decisions are: 

(a) in violation of constitutional or 
statutory provisions; 

(b) excess of the statutory authority 
of agency; 

(c) made upon unlawful procedure; 

affected by other error of law; 

(e) clearly erroneous in view of 
reliable, probative, and substantial 
evidence on the whole record; 

(f) arbitrary or capricious or 
characterized by abuse of discretion or 
clearly unwarranted exercise of 
discretion; or 

(g) because findings of fact, upon 
issues essential to the decision, were 
not although requested. 

the statute, this Court has stated: 

[F]indings of fact by an agency have been 
subject to a "clearly erroneous" standard 
of review by the courts ... 
Conclusions of law are subject to an 
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"abuse of discretion" review. These 
standards differ due to the agency's 
expertise regarding the s involved 
and the court's expertise in interpreting 
and applying t.he law • (Citations 
omitted. ) 

City of Billings v. Billings Firefighters (1982) f 200 Mont. 

421, 430, 651 P.2d 627, 632. 

The BPA he that. the School District had 

subsections (1) and (3) of § 39-31-401, MCA. Under the 

equivalent 1 statutes (29 U.S.C. § 158 (a) (I) and 

(3) ,any violation of subsection (3) necessarily includes a 

violation of subsection (1). N.L.R.B. v. Swedish 

Hospital Med. Center (9th Cir. 1980), 619 F.2d 33, 35. 

Subsection (1) "was intended as a general definition f 

employer unfair labor practices. Violations of it may 

derivative, independent, or both." Fun Striders, Inc. 

v. N.L.R.B. (9th 1981), 686 F.2d 659, 661. In this 

case, the BPA did not speci whether the subsection (1 ) 

violation was derivative from subsection (3) violation or 

whether it was an independent violation. However, language 

the hearing • I examJ.ner s opinion indicates that he 

considered there to be an independent violat of 

§ 39-31-401 (1), MCA. Thus, we proceed as if the BPA had 

found an independent violation of subsection (1). 

Section 39-31-401 (3), MCA, makes it an un r labor 

practice for a public employer to "discriminate regard to 

hire or tenure of employment or any term or condition of 

employment in order to encourage or discourage membership in 

any labor organization II Addressing the 

counterpart to this section, the United States Supreme Court 

stated: 
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[T] intention was to forbid only those 
acts that are motivated by an anti-union 
animus • • . But an employer take 
actions in the course of a labor 
that a complex of 
motives • it is often difficult 
to identi the true motive. 

In these situations Court divided 
an employer's conduct into two 
classes . . . Some conduct is so 
II I inherently destruct.i ve of employee 
interests'll that carries "lith a 
strong inference of impermissible motive 

. In such a situation, even if an 
employer comes forward with a 
nondiscriminatory explanation its 
actions, the Board "may nevertheless draw 
an of improper motive from the 
conduct. f and exerc duty to 

the proper balance between the 
business justifications and the 

invasion of employee in light of 
the Act its policy. It • On the 
other hand, if the adverse e of the 
discriminatory conduct. on rights 

'" comparatively slight,! an antiunion 
mot.ivation must be proved to sustain t.he 
charge if the employer has come forward 
with evidence of legit.imate 
substantial business justificat.ions 
the conduct." (Cit.ations omitt.ed., 

itan Edison Co. v. NLRB (1983) r 460 U.S. 693, 

700-701 103 S.Ct. 1467, 1473, 75 L.Ed.2d 387, 396. In this 

case BPA found that the School District had no 

substantial, legitimate ss justification for making the 

payments to the teachers the payments 'VJere 

inherently destructive of the striking s' union 

interests. Thus, the BPA found a ion of 

§ 39-31-401(3), MeA. 

The first issue is whether the District Court by 

revers the BPA's conclusion of law that the School 

had no legit.imate business j fication for 

the payments. We note that although the BPA and the 

examiner characterized this conclus as a finding 
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of fact , it is more properly seen as a conclusion of 

Thus, that conclusion is subject to the "abuse of discretion" 

standard of review. 

The stipulated show that the payment was made 

only a an attorney for one of the t.eachers threatened 

legal action. Two letters from that attorney are attached as 

exhibits to the stipulated facts. The attorney asserted that 

the superintendent's le-tter was an of of employment for a 

specific number of ; i.e. from June 4th to the completion 

of the 180th day of the school year. The attorney charged 

that the teacher was prepared to perform the term of the 

contract and that the School District breached the agreement 

by refusing to pay him for the work he was prepared to 

perform. At the hearing before the full Board of Personnel 

Appeals, board members discussed and considered a letter from 

the School District's superintendent. Although that letter 

was not part of stipulated facts, no objection was made 

to consideration of that letter it is properly part of 

the record before this Court. See § 39-31-409(3), MeA. The 

superintendent's letter shows (1) that an attorney advised 

the School District that the teacher I s claim was valid and 

(2) that the School District. decided not to litigate the 

claim because of the increased cost to do so. The letter 

expressed concern that if the School District was 

unsuccessful in contesting claim, the court would order 

the School District_ to pay the teacher! s attorney I s fees 

which would increase the loss by 30-40%. The hearing 

examiner disagreed with the School District and found that 

there was no obligation to pay teachers except for the 

one day they worked. Thus, the hearing examiner and the BPA 
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concluded there was no business justification for paying the 

claim. We agree with the District Court that that conclusion 

was an abuse of discretion. 

We need not decide for the purposes of this opinion 

whether the School District or the BPA correctly determined 

the legitimacy of the teacher's claim. 

The legitimacy of the [School District's] 
conduct for purposes of the analysis 
prescribed by Great Dane depends not on 
the truth of its assertions regarding its 
contractual obligations but rather on the 
reasonableness and bona fides with which 
it held its beliefs. 

The Circuit's decision in NLRB v. 
Borden, Inc., Borden Chemical Division, 
600 F.2d 313 (lst Cir. 1979), is 
persuasive in this regard. In Borden, 
the employer withheld accrued vacation 
pay because of the employees' strike 
activity until after the contractual 
vacation period had expired. The Board 
rejected the employer's assertion that it 
was acting pursuant to a contractual 
obligation, i.e., "employees shall not be 
paid vacation pay in lieu of vacation," 
and concluded that the denial of vacation 
benefits was inherently destructive of 
the employees' rights. The First Circuit 
remanded the case, declaring: 

"Borden did come fon-vard 
a business justification 
namely, the terms of 
bargaining agreement and 

with evidence of 
for its conduct, 
the collective 
past practice. 

The Board found this reason invalid 
because its interpretation of the 
contract differed from that of Borden's. 
This, however, is not ~ suestion of 
contract interpretation. The Board had ~ 
duty to determine whether Borden was 
motivated ~ its reliance on the 
collective barsaini~ agreement or ~ 
anti-union animus when it withheld the 
accrued vacation benefits. We caution 
the Board that it is neither our-function 
nor the Boa:rcr's-to second-guess business 
decisions. "The Act was not intended to 
guarantee that business decisions be 
sound, only that they not be the product 
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of antiunion motivation" (Emphasis in 
original.) (Citations omitted., 

Vesuvius Crucible Co. v. N.L.R.B. (3rd. Cir. 1981), 668 F.2d 

162, 167. See also Stokely-Van Camp, Inc. v. N.L.R.B. (7th 

Cir. 1983), 722 F.2d 1324. 

In Vesuvius, the employer, interpreting a collective 

bargaining agreement, refused to pay allegedly accrued 

vacation bene s to any employee, striking or nonstriking. 

The NLRB found that this interpretation of the collective 

bargaining agreement was incorrect, that the employees' right 

to benefits had a.ccrued, and that the employer committed 

unfair labor practices in refusing to pay. Third Circuit 

reversed finding the company's interpretation reasonable and 

arguably correct. The Vesuvius court found that the NLRB 

overstepped its authority in formulating its own 

interpretation of the contract. 

The instant. case is similar to Borden and Vesuvius. 

Here, the hearing examiner disagreed with the School 

District I S interpretation of the contra.ct but he did not 

address the reasonableness of that interpretation. We find 

that the School District made a reasonable interpretation of 

the contract and paid the claim out of a bona fide bel f 

that the claim was valid. The School District paid the claim 

only after the teacher threatened to Ie suit to collect. 

Moreover, the School District's attorney advised the School 

District that this was a legal claim which should be paid. 

Finally, we find that the School District's interpretation of 

the contract was arguably correct. Therefore, we af the 

District Court's reversal of the BPA' s conclusion that the 
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School District no substantial, legitimate bus ss 

justification for the payment. 

The second issue is whether the lower court properly 

reversed the BPA's conclusion that the School District's 

action was inherently destructive of protected labor rights. 

Inherently structive conduct, in this context, is conduct 

which s with " ... unavoidable consequences which 

the employer not only foresaw but which he must have 

intended" and thus bears "its own indicia of intent." 

(Citation omitted.) N.L.R.B. v. Great Dane Trai s (1967), 

388 U.S. 26, 33, 87 S.Ct. 1792, 1797, 18 L.Ed.2d 1027, 1034. 

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals scribes those cases 

finding inherently destructive conduct as: 

[C]ases involving conduct with far 
reaching effects which would hinder 
future bargaining, or conduct which 
discriminates solely upon the s of 
participation in strikes or union 
activity. Examples of inherently 
destructive activity are permanent 
discharge for participation in union 
activities, granting of superseniority to 
strike breakers, and other actions 
creating visible and continuing obstacles 
to the future exercise of employee 
rights. (Citation omitted.) 

Portland ~\1illamette Co. v. N.L.R.B. (9th Cir. 1976), 534 F.2d 

1331, 1334. The Portland Willamette Co. court lined to 

find inherently destructive conduct in an employer I s 

proposal, during a strike, to grant a retroactive pay 

increase to workE':!rs who had returned to, and rema at, 

work by a certain date. 

General Electric Co. (1948), 49 NLRB 510, 23 LRRM 1094, 

supports a conclusion that there was no inherently 

destructive conduct in this case. In General Electric the 
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employees engaged in a strike and the employer, upon the 

strike's termination, paid full wages for the entire strike 

period to those employees who had indicated a willingness to 

work during the strike. Although the compensated employees 

actually did no work during the strike, the NLRB found that 

those workers were "on call" and available for work. The 

NLRB found no unlawful disparity of treatment in paying full 

wages to those workers for the strike period. 

In this case, the BPA found that the teachers were not 

on-call and did not make themselves available for work after 

the first day. The District Court ruled that this finding 

was clearly erroneous. The propriety of this ruling is the 

third issue on appeal. The facts support an inference that 

the teachers did make themselve available to work the entire 

period in question. The superintendent's letter soliciting 

teachers (the offer) clearly contemplated that the teachers 

would work until the completion of 180 school days, i.e., for 

eighteen more days. 

the teachers accepted 

By showing up for work the first day, 

the offer and implicitly agreed to 

work, and make themselves available, for eighteen days. 

The BPA found that the School District discriminated 

against the strikers solely on the basis of union activity. 

We disagree. The School District discriminated in favor of 

the non-strikers because they took the affirmative step of 

agreeing to teach for eighteen days and forego other options 

for those days. Moreover, the payments were made more than a 

year after the strike and only after the threat of a lawsuit. 

The School District's conduct arose out of a unique situation 

and is not the equivalent of permanently discharging strikers 

or granting superseniority to non-strikers. The inherently 
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destructive label simply does not fi t this conduct. 

Therefore, we uphold the District Court's reversal of the BPA 

on this point. 

We concede that the School District's conduct may have 

had a comparatively slight impact on employee rights. 

Teachers may hesitate slightly in joining future strikes. To 

find a violation of § 39-31-401 (3) , MCA, where the 

discrirninat.ory conduct has comparatively slight effect, "[AJ n 

antiunion motivation must be proved to sustain the charge if 

[as here] the employer has come forward with evidence of 

legitimate and substantial business justifications for the 

conduct." Metropolitan Edison Co., 460 U.S. at 701. The BPA 

concedes I and the record shows, that there is no evidence 

that the School District acted with an anti-union motive. 

Therefore, we hold that there was no violation of 

§ 3 9 - 31 ~ 4 0 1 (3), MCA. 

Finally, we address the issue of whether there was an 

independent, as opposed to derivative, violation 

§ 3 9 - 31-4 0 1 (1) I MCA. 

Such a violation is established by 
showing: 

(1) that employees 
protected activities, 

are engaged in 
(citation omitted); 

(2) that the employeris conduct tends to 
"interfere with, restrain, or coerce 
employees" in those activities, (citation 
omitted); and 

(3) that the employer's conduct is not 
justified by a legitimate and substantial 
business reason, (citation omitted) . 

of 

Fun Striders, Inc., 686 F.2d at 661-662. We held above that 

the employer I s conduct was justified by a legitimate and 
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substantial business reason. Therefore, there can no 

independent violation of § 39-31-401(1), MeA. 

The District Court properly reversed the BPA order 

finding unfair labor practices. 

in 
C. 

firmed. 
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Mr. Justice William E. Hunt, Sr., dissenting: 

I dissent. I would uphold the BPA decision that the 

School District violated § 39-31-401, MeA, by paying the 

non-striking teachers for eighteen of work where those 

teachers actually worked only one day_ The facts as set out 

by the majority refer to the letter sent to all teachers by 

the School District, however the majority opinion does not 

set out that letter in full. There is one key sentence 

omitted. That sentence is the last sentence of the letter 

which reads: 

"Teachers who do not report for duty by 8: 00 a.m. on 

June 4, 1981 will be replaced." 

This sentence is the crux of that letter, as is shown by the 

that the School Board refers to this letter in the 

minutes of its meetings 

letter further states, 

as the "replacement letter." The 

"Teachers returning June 4th to 

completion of the school year shall receive . an average 

10.6% increase "Twenty -teachers told the District! s 

agents that they would return on June 4. Seventeen actually 

worked June 4th, two of the teachers had a family emergency 

and one was sick. On the evening of June 4 the School 

District decided to close Missoula county high schools 

through Friday, June 5. 

to close the schools 

academic year. 

The first issue 

On Sunday, June 7 the Board decided 

for the remainder of the 1980-81 

raised on appeal, is whether 

the District Court. erred in reversing the BPA's finding 

of that non-striking 

and on-call after June 

urges that the 

teachers were not available 

4, 1981 

payment 

The 

for 

School District 

eighteen days 
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of work when only one was in fact worked was in 

General Electric Co. (1948), 80 NLHB 510, 23 LRRM 1094. In 

General Electric, the employer paid employees who made their 

services available and remained on-call a standby 

capacity. The employer refused to pay strikers. The NLRB 

ld that the payment to non-strikers who did not work was 

not discriminatory because they remained subject to the 

employer's calIon a standby capac which was compensable 

as a matter of law. Thus the factual issue of whether the 

returning teachers "t'vere on-call fter June 4, 1981 becomes 

crucial. The BPA held they were not because the schools were 

closed and the school year was over. I agree that the 

returning teachers could not have remained on call for 

seventeen days after the schools had closed the academic 

thus I would hold that General Electric has no 

application to this case. The conduct of the School District 

was to divide the work force into those who decided to go out 

on strike and those who did not and t.o reward the latter 

group. 

The United States Supreme Court has set out the test to 

determine if discriminai.:ory conduct constitutes an unfair 

labor practice in NLRB v. Great Dane Trailers, Inc. (1967), 

388 l:1.S. 26, 34, 87 S.Ct. 1792, 1798, 18 L.Ed.2d 1027, 1035. 

First, if it can reasonably be concluded that the 
employer I s discriminatory conduct. was "inhE"~rently 
destructive" of important employee rights, no proof 
of an antiunion motivation is needed and the Board 
can find an unfair labor practice even if the 
employer introduces evidence that the conduct. was 
motivated by business considerations. Second, if 

adverse effect of the scriminatory conduct on 
employee rights is "comparative slight," an 
antiunion mot.ivation must be proved t~o sustain the 
charge if the employer has come forward with 
evidence-of legitimate and substantial business 
justifications for the conduct. Thus, in either 
situation, once it has been proved that the 
employer engaged in discriminatory conduct \vhich 
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could adversely affected employee rights to 
some extent, the burden is upon the employer to 
establish that he was motivated by legitimate 
objectives since proof of motivation is most 
accessible to him. (Emphasis in original.) 

The payment for seventeen days of unworked time is not 

so insignificant that the teachers will not reflect fore 

participating in future strikes. The hearing examiner 

estimated the cost to the District to be approximately 

$40,000 or $2,000 per employee. There have been many 

decisions that have found unlawful interference with the 

right to strike under similar circumstances. NLRB v. Great 

Dane, supra (grant of vacation benefits to only nonstrikers 

was an unfair labor practice); NLRB v. Erie Resistor Corp. 

(1963) I 373 U.S. 221, 83 S.Ct. 1139, 10 L.Ed.2d 308 (grant of 

super seniority to nonstrikers was an unfair labor practice); 

George Banta Co., Inc., Banta Div. v. NLRB (D.C. Cir. 1982), 

686 F. 2d 10 cert. den. (1983), 460 U. S. 1082, 103 s. Ct. 177 0, 

76 L.Ed.2d 344 (grants of preferential reinstatement and 

seniori ty rights to employees who abandoned a strike early 

was an unfair labor practice.); Soule Glass and Glazing Co. 

v. NLRB (1st. eire 1981), 652 F.2d 1055 (a 25¢ per hour wage 

increase to employees working as of the first day of a s·trike 

was an unfair labor practice.); NLRB v. Swedish Bospi tal 

Medical Center (9th Cir. 1980), 619 F.2d 33 (granting a one 

vacation to non-strikers, those who returned early and 

those hired during the strike was an unfair labor practice); 

NLRB v. Rubatex Corp. (4t.h eire 1979), 601 F.2d 147 cert. 

den. (1979), 444 U.S. 928, 100 S.Ct. 269, 62 L.Ed. 185 

(bonuses of of $100 to $25 for those who worked during the 

strike paid after the strike was over were an unfair labor 

practice.); NLRB v. Frick Co., (3d Cir. 1968), 397 F. 2d 956 

(refusing vacation pay to strikers while paying non-strikers 
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was an unfair labor practice.); Aero-Motive Manufacturing Co. 

(1972), 195 NLRB 790, 79 LRRM 1496, enfld, (6th Cir. 1973), 

475 F. 2d 27, ($100. bonus to those who worked through a 

strike, not awarded or announced unti 1 after the strike was 

an unfair labor practice.). The Court in Aero-Motive stated 

that by dist.inguishing "solely on the basis of who engaged in 

protected, concerted activity and who did not." such 

payments " •.• not only created a divisive wedge in the work 

force, but also clearly demonstrated the future the 

spec 1 rewards which lie in store for employees who choose 

to refrain from protected strike activity." 195 

NLRB at 792, 79 LRRM at 1498. I would adopt the rationale of 

Aero-Mo·tive and conclude that the conduct of the School 

District. was inherently destructive of the employees right to 

strike. Further, the business justification advanced by the 

School District does not constitute a legitimate substantial 

business 

counsel 

necessity. 

for one of 

The District received two letters from 

the teachers claiming was due 

compensation for eighteen although t.he terms of the 

agreement were, "to the completion of the school year" which 

ended June 4th. Further, the business necessity advanced by 

the School District does not explain why all twenty teachers 

were for the remaining seventeen days, even though three 

of those t.eachers did not work and were not paid for June 

4th. 

I would reverse the decision of the District Court and 

affirm the decision of the BPA. 

20 



Mr. Justice ,John c. Sheehy and ~lr. ,Justice Frank B. Morrison 
concur with the above dissent. 
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IN THE DI STRICT COURT OF THE FOURT >' J UDICIAL DIA!?rP;:;i~k& 
2 STATE CF MONTANA , I N AND F OR '1'}-! £ COUl\' TY OF MISSOULA 

3 ------------------------ - -------- --------------------- -- ------- - --

4 

5 

6 

7 

HISSOULA COUNTY 
HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT, 

Plaintif f , 

- vs-

8 BOARD OF PI:RSONN8L P.PP EALS 
OF THE STATf. OF J10NTANA ar.d 

9 !HSSOULA COU !JTY HIGH SCI;OOL 
FoueAT I ON ASSOC I AT I ON, !·~FA, 

10 

11 Defendants . 

FIND I NGS OF FACT , 

CONCL US IO!·!S OF Ll'.H , 

AriD onDF R 

';" 
,". \ / ' ; \~ 1 ..... • • 

12 Ca us e He . 59927) ':;-
- ':-' ;:':~':'; 

13 ------------------------- ----------- ---------- --- ---- -------------

14 This cause came on regularly before t he Court s i t tir,g 

15 withou t j u ry on the Petition of Mi s s o ula County l:iol, ~ ~ hoo l 

16 Distr ic t for Jud i cial Review of th8 F i nal Or d e r of t he. Bo ard 

17 of Pe rsonne l Appeal s in case No. 34 - 82 and f o r Decl ara tor y 

18 Judgment. Respondents, Board o f Pe rsonnel llppeals , a n d 

19 Missou la County Educa tion Assoc i a -c ion, MEA, fil e d J~ nsv:e r s . 

20 All p arties p resented briefs. Pe t i tioner filed a mot ion for 

21 judgment and oral argume nts wer e hea rd be f o re the COU Lt sitting 

22 without jury o n June 13. 1985. 

23 This Court , hav i n g reviewe d t he Ad~i n i 5 tra tive P. e c ord 

24 and brie fs , having hea rd the oral a r g umen ts, be inq fu lly advis e d 

25 now enter s the f o llowing: 

26 F I NDINGS OF FACT 

n I 

28 Pe t itioner, Mis so u la Coun ty Eigh Sc ho ol Cistric t, (VCPS) 

29 o perates four h igh s c hool s and a "" t.""J c at i onal tt1c h n ical ce n te r in 

30 Nissoula County , f.~ont a na . Res po nd l: nt , Mi s sou ln county E ig h 

31 School Association, (~CHSEA) is a ff iliated wit h the Mcn t a na 

32 Educat i onal Association and is. t r.e e xclusive ba r g aining 

- 1 -



1 representative of Petitioner's non-supervisory certified o r 

2 licensed employees. Re sponde n t , BDard o f Personne l JI.ppeal s of 

3 the State of t-1 o ntana, (BPA) is an -3dministrative agen('t of the 

4 State of f.1ontana. 

5 II 

6 Petitioner MenS and Responden t MCHSEA had a master contract 

7 effective fl"Om July 1. ).97<), t:.nroOl(]h .June 10, 19B:!.. The contract 

8 contained an opening clause for salaries and insurance for 1980-

9 81, the second year of the contract . The parties opened 

10 negotiations for second year salaries , but were ullable to reach 

11 agreement. On May 11, 198 1 , Respondent. r.·1Cf'SrA Vle nt on stri ke 

12 against Petitio ne r. Dur ing the f ·irst week of -the str ike t he 

13 Petitioner did not a ttempt to operate the schoolS. 

14 III 

15 On June 1, 1 981. Peti tioner sent all members of the 

16 bargaining unit a letter stating Petitioner's intent to reopen 

17 the schools on June 4, 1981. The letter stated salary and 

18 fringe benefits by reference to a schedule. time and ~atcs when 

19 teachers should notify the i r princip~ls of their intent to work. 

20 and the times and places whe re they should report for work . 

21 I V 

22 T ... ,enty high schoo l teachers reported their.: intent t o 

23 return t o work. On June 4, 198 1. seventeen of those · twe nty 

24 reported for work; thre e of the twenty did not repo rt f o r work 

25 because of illness or family eme rgency. Petitioner opened the 

26 schools on June 4, 1 981 . 

27 V 

28 Petitioner ' s Board of Trustees, for good a nd suffici.c nt 

29 reasons, determined that it would be inappropriat e to continue 

30 the operation of the schoo ls. Petitioner made no further attempt 

31 

32 

to operate t he schools for t ile balance of the 19HO - 8l schoo l 

year . 
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1 VI 

2 In Septembe r, 1982, following t hrea t of suit by one or 

3 more o f the teache rs who ag r eed to return t o \\'o d:, Peti tioner 

4 paid the twenty teachers who had Re] re ed t o wo rk f or the re!T'aining 

5 eighteen days for wh i ch they had ag reed t o teach . Non e o f th e 

6 t e achers who did not indica t e the i r i n tent to return to \.;o rk o n 

7 June 4, 1 98 1, were paid fo r the eig h teen days . 

8 VII 

9 l On October 19, 1982, Defendant, Mi ssoula Cou nty liigh 

10 ~ Schoo l Educati on Association, fil ed an Un fai r Labor Pract ice 

l' ~ c harge against Pe titioner a l leg in g t ha t the payment t o t he twenty 

12 ~ teache rs c onst ituted an unfair labor p ractice. Defendan t sought 

13 an order directing Petitioner to pay all o the r teachers o n 

14 contract d ur ing the p e riod an d to make appropriate con t ributions 

15 to the Teachers Ret iremen t Sy s tem. 

16 VIII 

17 The matter was submi tted to the He .:lrinq Examiner on 

18 stipulated facts. The Heari ng Exa~iner i ssue d Find ing s of Fact , 

19 Conclusions of Law and a Proposed Order . T he Hear i ng Exarr.i nerls 

20 single conclusion of l aw state d that "By its ac tion in paying 

21 those twenty teachers who s a id they would work, s evente en of 

22 whom wor ked o ne day , and failing t o pay t he r ema i n i ng te a chers 

23 (Missoul a County High Schob1 Distr i ct) violated §39 -31-401(1) and 

24 (3) MeA. " 

25 IX 

26 The High School District fi led e xc ep ti ons to the Finding s, 

27 Conclusions and Proposed Order ; bot il parti e s fi led brj,c fs; the 

28 Board of Pe r sonnel Appeals issued its Fina l Order f0 1 10 \.,. i ng oral 

29 argument. 

30 X 

31 The Boa rd o f Pe rsonnel Appe~ ls i ssued a sing le Conclusion 

32 of Law: "The con duct engaged i n by Mis soula Coun t y Hi g h School 
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in t h is case is clearly prohibite d conduct under' §39-3 1-4 01, 

2 MeA . " 

3 From the foreg oing F indings of Fact, the Court now 

4 makes the followi ng : 

5 COt\CLUSIONS OF LA\'l 

6 r 

7 This Cour t has juri_~ djctj. u n ove r ~he pnrLieti and su})ject 

8 matter herein. 
, 

9 
II 

10 ~ .' 
II 

The Board of Personne l "Appeals ' F inding that the 

" 
11 

, 
1 

~ 12 I 
13 I· 

il 
14 I, 

i 15 
l 

teachers did not r..ake themselves ava ilable and r CfY'.ai n subject 

to the cal l of Petitioner after June 4 , 19 81 . is clearly 

er roneous in view of the reliab le, probative a~d s ubstantial 

evidence on the .... 'ho le record . 

III 

16 I 17 

The Board of Personn e l l\ppea J 5 ' Conclusi(lll that t_he 

Petitioner was under no o bligation to pay th e teach e rs for 

18 J 
more than the one day they r epor t e d for work is c ha ra(:te rized 

, 
19 ~ 20 

! 21 

Ii 22 

23 
~ 

~ 24 

as abuse of discre tion and constit u te s a n error o f la ...... . 

lV 

The Board of Personne l J\ppeals ' Conclusion that the 

payment to the teachers is inherentl:l destruct ive o f protected 

rights and that no proof of anti -union motiva tion o f t he 

Peti tioner need be presented is c harac ter ized as abuse of 

2S • 
! 26 

27 
11 
ii 

d i scre t ion and constitutes an er r or o f l aw . 

v 

The Board of Pe rsonnel l\PFC.:lls ' Conc lusi c l1 that the 

~ 
28 ;'1 

i 
conduct engaged in by Peti tione r in this case i 5 clea rly 

29 I , prohibited c o nduct unde r §39 - 31 - 401 , ~CA, is cha ra l erized 

30 ~ as abuse of d iscretion , const jtutes an error of l aw , and i s 

31 
,1 , ., prejudicial of substant i al ri gh t:: of the Petit ione r . 

32 '1 

~ 
From the forego ing Findinr;pi of Fact and ConcL.E;ions 

I 
CM"'nf~' 

I, 
r - <l-
< 



1 of Law, the Court now mak es the f ollo \ving: 

2 ORiER 

3 For the above reasons , i t is hereby o rdered that the 

4 Decision of t he Board of Personne l Appe al s is reve rsed , th e 

5 Final Or der of the Board is vdcated, a nd the Un fa ir Labor 

6 Practice charg e a gainst the Petitioner , Mis soul a county Hi g h 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 :: 

32 

School District , is disf'1_i~f.,~d . 

DA'l' ED this.1..~day o f _~{!? ~ I'll t< .. 

cc : Hi l ley & Loring 
\::o r den , Tha ne & Haines 

/ James E. Ga rdner 
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STATE OF ivlONTANA 
BRFOl-1.E T iiE 8<;,Al",:;} VP I-' r :RSo:: ... 'NE I. Af l '!,.i\ LS 

I N THE t-lATTER 0 : ' UNFA 1J: :'.I\ [" O~~ P R.ACTIC~ _,.!;:.) . 34 - f.l2 

Ml f:SGUr..C\ ':-(;fj!~ T-:" fi T!,, )-j ~ ;(' i!{).'""' i. . ) 
EDUCNl' lO:~ i \;; SQC IT ... :.' ; U;\l, ~'l E: f'. 

'i~ . 

MI SSO'.::,; ·2CYdN '.l.':' HI GH ~,. , C, ;;):,:'L 
DISTf,IC'}.' , 

o n :ie c e ,oher ~,; . ~.Sl2 3 . 

on J3.l1u 3. r y 1 9 , 1 9 84, 

Ora ! 

Personne l App '~~.:.l l s o n "1a1'c:l 2, 19B';. 

T ! L~ ; Co ,~'. 

payers of t he ~ ~ea . 

l i"fJJ\i , "; ~L".r: J ; 

} : 

~ , - ':. . 



I 

s chool Di s t .rict :J.n Ulif:.; c:a:; -.= \vil l not. be l..o 1 e r<.lted in pUbl ic 

2 secto r coI l e cti ve bar9aining in I'l ; ' :~Ll!1a. 

3 On thl'..: o thel:' hand 'Ch i:;;: Boa.fd ·ioes no t desil:e t o oVerly 

4 bUl:den tlw t a xpayer:"::' of r'!iS !50 1l i a Coun~y be:;a u se o[ t he 

5 il l e gal iH.:ts d o ne by T.he .t l' e l e c t e d sf:hf)ol b .)ctrJ rndnbet"s . 

6 Thi s Board want.s ::'0 provi de z; rem~d.)· th.;.t Hill : ( 1 ) ef.· 

7 fectll at:.; t.he pol ic:l of tl1E: Act 

8 

Ii 9 

10 I miss ioll or ~ l nfai r labo r ~ r acti~eG whicll ri isr: ri nil ~a te ~ sains ~ 

I I I 

12 ! 

13 

14 cond uct. 

15 Accordingly , aft e r. ' l o !1g and .:;.;neflll · c.}n r:.: ide r Cl t ion by 

16 a ll melnbe rs o f t ,h is BO o:trd, we ordel- as f ol l rJ!,-/ ::; 

17 A. It i:,; Or"dcred t.ha t -t he Bea1."in'1 C:xami ne:r: 's F i r,d i ngs 

18 ot- Fact and Conclu s ioll of La .... .'lre ado;ltf;:d by t h ir:> Board. 

I ~ I 
'I 

20 
II 

21 
II 

" ,-, II 
23 II 

2-1 
II 

25 I' ,I 
2:1 il 
27 

II 28 

f~ . I t 1.5 o r der ed thD t: ~}K~ n eal.-i.r.,:!, r;: :<:& tlline r' s Hecom-

exe r cise of t.he ':';; 3'J- 31- .:~. ().1· 11('A righ t.s, Ll. ·) i <)L<~ Li()r. of 

9ption _ . .!. , 
29 

\ ,0 t he sevf: n t(;!en days t~ ft_ er. ... /un e 1-, ; s,n b y payi rig tI~em t.he 

31 a mount -they Houl d have !:' ~=: cei ved Iw.;l t h ey be~n paid in. a ..:::cot"-

3l dance wi th the terms G!:.' th-:- p a yu e nt made t,o the t ,wenty 

::'eachers " ho wel.·e p aid f or those :..;e\-t'!nteen days . 
-~2 -



2 
above i n ac-:;o rd ·~n(;e wi •. ]) tJ:e h::: Lh o (l a U0p t cd by t h e NLR8 j n 

3 

4 
in 2ccordance wi,t .11 the f o r:mu j.a fO l cOInpu ting inte res t due 

5 

6 

7 

8 

') 

10 

I I 

., 
I . If c1 

13 

J4 

i '; " 
" ,I , 

16 I 
1 , 

17 
I 

i"~ ,l" ~>( 1!<.:. tf.v ~:,L: p(,l: ticJn of 

18 J' 

I' 19 
,I 

20 II 
:1 

2J I 

one ~1.W~[: 5 1.:m a t t r ie ~ ii"'hO! of : ;t\ch r e t i J' t.:Hle nt 0 1.- s epi.\ r Ci ti o n. 

The :cate c,r pil ~' for: t!-l'2 takin '~j of th ~2' l e av ,,:, , n o llI c'l,tte " ho'li 

take n , s haU b (~ ilt t.he P l t e o f pay U"ut L!le teac h e rwc, uld 

i 
22 I 

i 
:930- 81 

?' I -, I 
agn::· eme ll t: . 

I 
24 I 
25 

26 np :.:.. .. ~ ). ~ t. ... t b.~ Be.:; [ d ;.) ( 

27 

25 

29 

30 ! 

31 I 
" 

32 I , 
be viewed a ~:. pre co:::d(!n L (PI" f utUi- ,; remt:d.tes should. this type 

I 

I , 
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STATE OF MONTANA 

BEFORE THE BOARD OF PERSONNEL APPEALS 

IN THE MATTER OF UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICE NO. 34-82 

MISSOULA COUNTY HIGH SCHOOL 
EDUCATION ASSOCIATION, MEA 

Complainant, 

-vs-

MISSOULA COUNTY HIGH SCHOOL 
DISTRICT, 

Defendant. 

FINDING OF FACT, 
CONCLUSION OF LAW 

AND 
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
BACKGROUND 

Complainant filed charges against Defendant on october 19, 

1982 alleging violation of section 39-31-401 (1) and (3) MeA 

when Defendant paid certain of its teachers for 18 days of a 

str ike which Complainant engaged in against Defendant during 

1981. Defendant denied any violation. After going through 

some discovery, the parties waived a factual hearing and 

entered into the following stipulation of facts and issue: 

1. Complainant Missoula County High School Education 

Association (MCHSEA) is the recognized exclusive bargaining 

representative of De£endant's non-supervisory certificated 

or licensed empl oyees. 

2. The parties had a Master Contract, effective from 

Ju ly 1, 1979, through June 20, ( sic) 1981, with an opening 

clause f or salaries and insurance benefits for the second 

year of the agreement, 1980-81. The parties opened negotia-

tions for the second year salaries, but were unable to reach 

agreement. 

3. On May 11, 1981, Compla i nant went on s trike against 

Defendant. During the first week of the strike, Defendant 

did not a ttempt to operate the schools. 
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4. On June 1, 1981, Defendant sent the letter attached 

as Exhibit 1 (see infra p. 3 of this decision) to all members 

of the bargaining unit. 

5. Some twenty (20) teachers told Defendant's admin­

istration they would cross picket lines and return to work 

if Defendant attempted to operate. Those twenty (20) are: 

B. L. IIJugH Beck. 

Kim Borden 

Lucille Cole 

Marge Frette 

Georgianna Gra! 

Walt Graf 

Norma Ibsen 

Penny Jakes 

Pat Kiner 

Gene Leonard 

Bob Luoma 

Susan Mielke 

Ann Merger 

Carol Morris 

Marilyn Pease 

Art Sikkink 

Diane Svee 

Doug Vagg 

Robert Wafstet 

Carolyn Woodbury 

6. Defendant opened the schools on June 4, 1981. 

Three (3) of the twenty (20) teachers did not report for 

work: B. L. LlJug" Beck, because of illness, and Walt and 

Georgianna Graf, because of a family emergency. For good 

and sufficient reasons, Defendant's Board of Trustees deter­

mined that it would be inapproprate to continue the operation 

of the schools. Defendant thereafter made no further attempt 

to operate the schools for the balance of the 1980-81 school 

year. 

7. In September, 19SZ, following the threat of a 

lawsuit by one or more of the teachers who agreed to work, 

as evidenced by Exhibit 2 (see infra p.3 of this decision), 

Defendant paid the twenty (20) teachers identified in Para­

graph 5 for the remaining eighteen (18) days which said 

teachers agreed to teach. 

-2-
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8. None of the teachers who did not indicate a willing-

ness to work despite the strike were paid for the eighteen 

(18) days. 

Issue: Whether payment of those twenty (20) teachers 

who said they would work, seventeen (17) of whom worked one 

(1) day, and failure to pay the remainder of the teachers is 

discrimination forbidden by M.e.A. section 39-31-401(1) and 

(3) . 

Exhibit 1 referred to in fact No. 4 above was signed by 

the Superintendent and states: 

The school district has just received definite legal advice 
that our schools must be open for 180 days in the 1980-81 
school year or we will lose $1.275 million in state aid. 

This would mean that despite the voters support of the 
schools, the Board would have to make major cuts in next 
year's school program. A $1.275 million cut would necessarily 
mean much larger class sizes, reduced curricular and extra­
curricular offerings. 

Schools must open June 4, 1981 if this community is to 
maintain the quality of our school program for next year. 
During mediation meetings this last weekend the Board's 
negotiator offered Association leaders several additional 
concessions, hoping to resolve the dispute. These efforts 
were unsuccessful. The Board does not feel it can responsibly 
agree to the demands of the Association leadership. 

High schools will open on June 5th for freshman, sophmore 
and junior classes. Students at the Missoula vocational 
Technical Center will not report for classes until the 
opening of summer session on June 15. However, Missoula 
Vocational Technical Center staff should report to their 
director no later than 4:00 p.m. on June 3, 1981. All high 
school teachers should notify their principal by 4:00 p.m. 
June 3, 1981 indicating a willingness to work commencing 
with a PIR day at 8:00 a.m. June 4, 1981. All personnel at 
Central School should notify Mr. Joe Roberts by 4:00 p.m. 
June 3, 1981 and report to Central School at 8:00 a.m. on 
June 4th. 

Teachers returning June 4th to completion of the school year 
27 shall receive for the 1980-81 school year an average 10.6% 

increase as per the attached salary schedule which includes 
28 increments and horizontal changes. This payment will be 

retrocative to August 27, 1980. All fringe benefits including 
29 insurance for June will be paid. 

30 Teachers who do not report for duty by 8,00 a.m. on June 4, 
1981 will be replaced. 

31 
Exhibit 2 referred to in fact No. 7 is two letters, 

32 
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dated April 27, 1982 and July 12, 1982, from the law firm 

representing Robert Luoma to the Missoula County High School 

Board of Trustees. They read as follows: 

April 27, 1982 

Please be advised that this firm has been contacted by 
Robert Luoma, a teacher at sentinel High School, with respect 
to a potential claim agai nst the Missoula County High School 
arising out of a letter dated June 1, 1981, wherein he was 
offered employment beginning June 4, 1981, to the end of the 
1981 school year. According to Mr. Luoma, in order to avoid 
the potential 10S6 of certain funds from the State of Montana, 
the MCHS offered to rehire any teacher reporting to work on 
June 4, 1981, and fu r ther advising teachers who did not 
report to work that they would be replaced. A copy of the 
letter received by Mr. Luoma is enclosed with this lett~r. 

Pursuant to this offer Mr. Luoma and several other teachers 
showed up for work on June 4, 198 1 , and remained there for 
the day. Further, on June 5, 1981, Mr. Luoma showed up at 
sentinel High School ready, willing and able to perform work 
pursuant to the offer made by MCHS, but found that the doors 
were locked. The doors remained locked throughout the remainder 
of the 1980-1981 school year. 

As you are probably aware, Mr . Luoma signed a written contract 
to teach at sentinel High School during the 1980-1981 school 
year, a copy of which is enclosed with this letter. That 
contract was not terminated at any time by either Mr . Luoma 
or MCHS, and as is evidenced by his appearance for work on 
June 4, 1981, Mr. Luoma was ready, willing and able to 
perform according to its terms at all times. Further, your 
letter of June I, 1981, constitutes an offer of emp loyment 
for a specific term notwithstanding the existence of a labor 
dispute, and you did not reserve the right to terminate the 
offer or any agreement arising out of the acceptance thereof 
because of difficulties involved in opening the school. It 
is my opinion that a contractual relationship existed between 
MCHS and Mr. LUoma for employment for a specific number of 
days commencing on June 4, 1981, and ending on the lSOth day 
of the 1980-1981 school year. You did pay Mr. Luoma for his 
work on June 4. but you have re£used to pay him for work 
that he was prepared to per£orm for the remaining term of 
the contract. This in my opinion is a breach of the agreement 
between you and Mr. Luoma and he is entitled to damages 
equal to the amount that he would have been paid had he been 
allowed to work. 

The purpose of this letter is to settle this dispute without 
resort to litigation. I wO'uld hope that you would reconsider 
your position and agree to pay Mr. Luoma. If you have any 
questions or wish to discuss this matter, Mr. Luoma and I 
would be happy to meet with you. 

July 12, 1982 

I have written to you in the past concerning a claim t hat 
Robert Luoma has against the High School District with 
respect to his willingness to work during the month of June, 
1981 , following an offer of employment made by the High 

-4-



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

School District in writing, dated June I, 1981. As you know 
that offer was to employ teachers who returned by 8:00 a.m. 
June 4th, 1981, for the remainder of the 1980-1981 school 
year. Mr. Luoma and a few other teachers accepted the 
School District's offer and returned to work on June 4th, 
1981, and remained available for work for the rest of the 
school year. They did not perform work because of the 
decision of the School District not to reopen the schools 
after June 4th, however, since Mr. Luoma was prepared to 
perform his side of the bargain, he is entitled to the wages 
that he would have received had the School District performed 
its side of the bargain. 

In the April 27th letter I requested that you reconsider 
your decision not to pay Mr. Luoma and as of yet I have not 
heard a response. Mr. Luoma is seriously contemplating 
commencing legal action, but before doing so he would like 
to know whether the School Board intends to stand by its 
decision not to pay the teachers who accepted the District's 
offer to return to work. A prompt response would be greatly 
appreciated. 

The parties also stipulated to a briefing schedule 

which was completed when Complainant submitted its reply 

brief on August 30, 1983. Subsequent to the completion of 

15 the briefing schedule, counsel for Defendant sent a letter 

16 dated September 1, 1983 to the hearing examiner in which he 

17 sought to point out that Defendant paid the twenty teachers 

18 for the eighteen days they had agreed to work from June 4, 

19 1981 to the end of the school year, not the fourteen days 

20 preceeding June 4. 

21 In response to Defendant's letter of September 1, 1983, 

22 counsel for Complainant sent a letter dated September 12, 

23 

24 

2S 

1983 to the hearing examiner. She stated that there was no 

reference in the stipulated facts to which eighteen days the 

teachers were paid for. She said the school year was to be 

26 180 days, all teachers had worked 162 days and there were 

27 eighteen days remaining for which the twenty teachers were 

28 paid. 

29 Although a determination of which eighteen days the 

30 returning teachers were paid for is not dispositive of the 

31 issue stipulated to, it seems clear that the period was from 

32 
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June 4th forward. The Superintendent's letter of June 1st is 

not ambiguous on that point. 

DISCUSSION 

The charges filed allege that sections 39-31-401(1} and 

(3) MeA were violated by Defendant. section 39-31-401(1) 

makes it an unfair labor practice for a public employer to 

Ilinterfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise 

8 of the rights guaranteed in 39-31-201." section 39-31-201 

9 

10 

II 

12 

i3 

14 

IS 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

MeA protects public employees "in the exercise of the right 

of self-organization, to bargain collectively through repre­

sentatives of their own choosing on questions of wages, 

hours, fringe benefits, and other conditions of employment, 

and to engage in other concerted activities for the purpose 

of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection 

free from interference, restraint or coercion. 11 section 

39-31-401(3) MCA prohibits discrimination by a public employer 

in regard to any term or condition of employment in order to 

encourage or discourage membership in any labor organization. 

sections 7, 9 (a}(l) and 8 (a)(3) of the National Labor 

Relations Act are practically identical to sections 39-31-201 

21 and 401 (1) and (3) MCA. The Board of _Personnel Appeals has 

22 been guided in the past by National Labor Relations Board 

23 and federal court precedent. The Montana Supreme Court has 

24 upheld that practice in state Department of Highways v. 

25 Public Employees Craft Council, 165 Mont. 349, 529, P.2d 795 

26 (1974), 97 LRRM 2101; AFSCME Local 2390 v. City of Billings, 

27 171 Mont. 20, 555 P.2d 507, 93 LRRM 2753 (1976). 

28 Complainant contends that the action of Defendant in 

29 paying the non-striking teachers for the eighteen "days, only 

30 one of which was actually worked or attempted to be worked, 

31 unlawfully interfered with its protected concerte"d activity 

32 

-6-



2 

3 

4 

5 

6 
, , 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

~ 30 

31 

32 

and discriminated against employees for engaging in, such 

concerted activity. Defendant urges that the payment to the 

non-striking teachers for days when they were not engaged in 

productive activity for the schools is not illegal. Defendant 

cites General Electric Co., 80 NLRB 510, 23 LRRM 1094 (1948), 

as being dispositive of the issue. I do not agree. The 

facts in this case are distinguishable from the facts in 

General Electric where the employer divided its employees 

into two groups depending on their willingness to work 

during a nine week strike. The employer refused to give 

continuous service credits to strikers for the period of the 

strike, but did give service credit and full wages to those 

employees who made their services available and remained 

subject to the employer's call at all times in a standby 

capacity. The National Labor Relations Board held that the 

refusal to give service credits to the strikers, inasmuch as 

it denied accural of seniority, was a violation of section 8 

(a)(3) and (1) of the National Labor Relations Act. The 

NLRB went on to say that payment by the employer of wages to 

the non-strikers for the period of the strike, although they 

did not actually work, was not discriminatory; that the 

non-strikers remained subject to the employer's call at all 

times in a standby capacity which was compensable as a 

matter of law (citing Social Security Board vs. Nierotko, 

327 US 358). Here, there is no evidence that the twenty 

teachers were on call in a standby capacity for more than 

the one day school was open on June 4th. After June 4th 

there was no reason to have them make themselves available 

because the schools were closed. They did not make their 

services available during the seventeen days in question 

here and remain subject to the call of Defendant; they could 
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not have been on call because Defendant had no reason to 

call them after it closed the schools. Payment for the one 

day they actually reported for work, June 4th, is not in 

dispute. When Defendant closed the schools, the school year 

ended; there was no work to be done nor a need for standby 

teachers. 

In contrast to the payment to the non-strikers in the 

General Electric case for being in a standby capacity, which 

is compensable as a matter of law (see Social Security Board, 

supra), the only reason which prompted the Employer here to 

make the disputed payments was a threat to sue on a disputable 

claim. Furthermore, in General Electric the questions 

before the NLRB revolved around reinstatement rights of 

strikers. Specifically, the complaint alleged that the 

company violated the NLRA by refus.ing to credit strikers 

with continuous service for the period of the strike thus 

depriving them of full seniority, vacation and pension 

rights. The question of whether payment of wages to non­

strikers when they are neither working nor in a standby 

capacity interfered with the rights of employees to engage 

in concerted activities in the future was not raised and was 

not at issue. General Electric, supra, see Intermediate 

Report of the Trial Examiner, 80 NLRB 2517. Both the trial 

examiner and the NLRB directed their analyses of the facts 

and law toward reinstatement rights of strikers. There is 

no allegation here that Defendant refused to bestow all 

accrued benefits to the striking teachers. The allegation is 

that the additional benefit which Defendant awarded the 

non-strikers (the twenty became non-strikers after they 

agreed to return on June 4th) discriminated against strikers 

and interfered with their right to engage in concerted 

-8-



activities and other rights set out in 39-31-201 MeA. Cases 

2 citing General Electric since it was issued set forth three 

3 principles: (1) an employer may not withhold from strikers a 

4 benefit which will give non-strikers a long term advantage, 

5 e.g., additional seniority, (2) an employer may not deny 

6 strikers rights and benefits earned before the strike, and 

7 as Defendant points out, (3) an employer is not required to 

B finance a strike against itself. The third principle is a 

9 corollary of the second. since an employer can deny strikers 

10 benefits which did not accrue before the strike, it stands 

11 to reason it is under no obligation to give strikers more 

12 than what they had coming, i.e., it does not have to Ilfinance" 

13 the strike against itself. System Council T-4 v. NLRB, 

14 (Illinois Bell Telephone Co.), 77 LRRM 2897, 446 F.2d 815 

15 (7th CA, 1971), Emerson Electric Co., v. NLRB, 107 LRRM 

16 2112, (3rd CAl 650 F.2d 463 (1981) amended 107 LRRM 3303, 

17 Texaco, Inc. v. NLRB, 112 LRRM 3206, (5th, CA 1983). 

18 There are essentially two questions raised by the 

19 charges filed by Complainant. The first is whether the 

20 employer's conduct in paying the non-strikers (those teachers 

21 who returned on the 4th of June) for those days after the 

22 schools were closed discriminated against the strikers in 

23 violation of section 39-31-401 (3) MeA, which is the equiva-

24 lent of 8 (a)(3) of the NLRA. The second question is whether 

25 the employer's conduct interfered, restrained of coerced 

26 employee activity in violation of section 39-31-401(1) MeA 

27 and as set forth in section 39-31-201 MeA. The equivalents 

28 of those sections are sections 8 (a)(l) and 7 of the NLRA. 

29 It is elementary that a violation of section 8 (a)(3) entails 

30 derivatively a violation of section 8 (a)(1), but the converse 

31 is not necessarily true. R. Gorman, Labor Law 132 (1976). 

32 
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The U.S. Supreme Court in NLRB v. Erie Resistor Corp, 

373 U.S. 221, 53 LRRM 2121 (1963) held, in finding an 8 

(a)(3) violation by an employer, that there is certain 

employer conduct which is so inherently discriminatory or 

destructive of employee rights that even business objectives 

will not save it,. There the company was under stiff cornpe-

titian for its product when the union struck. In an attempt 

to induce replacements to accept employment and to get 

strikers to return to work, the company offered and awarded 

twenty years of super seniority for purposes of layoff and 

recall after the strike ended. Subsequent to a later reduc-

tion in the work force , former strikers were laid off and 

13 those with less service were retained. The Court went on to 

state that although an employer may claim his actions were 14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

necessitated by business ends and that his purpose was not 

to discriminate: 

Nevertheless, his conduct does speak for itself--it is 
discriminatory and it does discourage union membership 
and whatever the claimed overriding justification may 
be, it carries with it unavoidable consequences which 
the employer not only foresaw but which he must have 
intended. As is not uncommon in human experience, such 
situations present a complex of motives and preferring 
one motive to another is in reality the far more delicate 
task, reflected in part in -decisions of this' Court, 
(citing cases) of weighing the interest of employees in 
concerted activity against the interest of the employer 
in operating his business in a particular manner and of 
balancing in the li9ht of the act and its policy the 
intended consequences upon employee rights against the 
business ends to be served by the employer's conduct. 

Erie Resistor Corp., Supra, 
53 LRRM at 2124 

It should be noted from the outset that there is nothing 

in the stipulated facts to suggest that the Missoula County 

High School District trustees had an overt hostile motive or 

intent when they decided to pay the twenty teachers for 

seventeen days after the schools were closed. However, a 

long line of cases arising out of the private sector and 
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decided by the federal courts have addressed the motive 

requirement as it applies to alleged section 8 (a)(!) inde-

pendent violations and 8 (a)(3) and derivative 8 (a)(l) 

violations. See The scienter Factor in sections 8 (a)(!) 

and (3) of the Labor Act, 52 Cornell L. Q. 491 (1976). 

In most cases an employerls reason for discriminating 

will determine whether he violated 8 (a)(3). If the purpose 

was to encourage or discourage union membership it is an 

unfair labor practice. However, specific anti-union purpose 

need not be shown. In Radio Officers' Union v. NLRB, 347 

U.S. 17, 33 LRRM 2417 (1954) the Court held that specific 

evidence of intent to encourage or discourage is not an 

indispensable element of proof of an 8 (a)(3) violation: 

The language of section 8{a)(3) is not ambiguous. The 
unfair labor practice is for an employer to encourage 
or discourage membership by means of discrimination. 
Thus, this section does not outlaw all encouragement or 
discouragement of membership in labor organizations; 
only such as is accomplished by discrimination is 
prohibited. Nor does this -section outlaw discrimination 
in employment as such; only such discrimination as 
encourages or discourages membership in a labor organi­
zation is proscribed ... But it is also clear that 
specific evidence of intent to encourage or discourage 
is not an indispensible element of proof of a violation 
of 8(a)(3) ... an employer's protestation that he did 
not intend to encourage or discourage must be unavailing 
where a natural consequence of his· acti6n was such 
encouragement or discouragement. Concluding that 
encouragement or discouragement will result, it is 
presumed that he intended such consequences. 

Radio Officer's Union, supra, 
33 LRRM at 2427 and 2428 

The Court, in NLRB v. Great Dane Trailers, Inc, 388 

26 u.s. 26, 65 LRRM 2465 (1967), announced a formula for proving 

27 discrimination in 8 (a) (3) cases: 

28 First, if it can reasonably be concluded that the 
employer's discriminatory conduct was tlinherently 

29 destructive" of important employee rights, no proof of 
an antiunion motivation is needed and the Board can 

30 find an unfair labor practice even if the employer 
introduces evidence that the conduct was motivated by 

31 business considerations. Second, if the adverse effect 
of the discriminatory conduct on employee rights is 

32 IIcomparatively slight, II an antiunion motivation must be 
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proved to sustain the charge if the employer has come 
forward with evidence of legitimate and substantial 
business justifications for the conduct. Thus, in 
either situation, once it has been proved that the 
employer engaged in discriminatory conduct which CQuld 
have adversely affected employee rights to some extent, 
the burden is upon the employer to establish that he 
was motivated by legitimate objectives since proof of 
motivation is most accessible to him. 

The u.s. Circuit Courts of Appeal and the NLRB have 

applied the principles of Erie Resistor and Great Dane to 

fact situations arising from later private sector cases 

where allegations of 8(a)(1) and 8(a)(3) violations were 

made. More specifically, where differentiations by employers 

have been made between strikers and non-strikers in the 

provision of bonuses or other special benefits, the Board 

and courts have viewed it with disfavor. In Aero-Motive Man-

ufacturing Co., 195 NLRB No. 133, 79 LRRM 1496 (1972), 

enf'd. 475 F.2d 27 (6th CA, 1973) where the employer paid a 

$100.00 bonus to employees who worked during a strike, while 

denying it to strikers, even though the bonus was not an-

nounced or awarded until after the strike ended, the NLRB 

found an 8(a)(1) violation. In the Aero-Motive case the 

Board cited NLRB v. Illinois Tool Works, 153 F.2d 811, (7th 

CAlI 17 LRRM 841 for the principle that whether employer 

conduct unlawfully interferes with any section 7 right and 

is therefore violative of section 8(a)(1), depends on whether 

the employer engaged in conduct which, it may reasonably be 

said, tends to interfere with the free exercise of employee 

rights, the NLRB went on to reason: 

It is by now axiomatic that employers violate our Act 
if they grant special benefits to employees who refrain 
from engaging in concerted activity and who deny such 
benefits to those who cho9se to engage in such activity. 
Respondent urges as its principle defense to the appli­
cation of this basic principle that there was no illegal 
interference here because the bonus was not granted 
until after the strike had ended. While it is true 
that the absence of an advance announcement or payment 
necessarily means that the bonus was not used as an 
inducement to refrain from concerted activity at the 
time the strike was in progress, we cannot put on 
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blinders and fail to look at the impact of the payment 
on employees at the time it was made and for the future. 
Once granted, the strikers were plainly disadvantaged 
with respect to the non-strikers and it was equally 
plain that the distinction was drawn solely on the 
basis of who engaged in protected, concerted activity 
and who did not. This not only created a divisive 
wedge in the work force, but also clearly demonstrated 
for the future the special regards which lie in store 
for employees who choose to refrain from protected 
activity. 

However the Respondent may have characterized the 
payment, we believe that the principle impact of the 
payments will be to discourage employees from engaging 
in protected activity in the future. And we think this 
is true even if Respondent's heart was pure. 

Aero-Motive Mfg., supra, 
79 LRRM at 1498 

Since I am unable to conclude from the facts here that 

the twenty returning teachers employed by Defendant were in 

a standby capacity, it appears the payment to them, for more 

than the one day they reported for duty, was in the nature 

of a special benefit or bonus. The U.S. Court of Appeals, 

Fourth Circuit, in NLRB v. Rubatex corp., 601 F.2d 147, 101 

LRRM 2660 (1979), cited Aero-Motive, supra, and agreed with 

its holding. The Court held that the NLRB was warranted in 

finding that the employer violated section 8(a)(1) when it 

made bonus payments only to union members who crossed picket 

lines, despite the contention that the impact of the payments 

on future union activity was speculative and insub?tantial. 

" ... The sum of $100 is not such a small amount that company 

employees will not think twice about participating in a 

future strike. Similarly, that only thirteen of the company's 

830 union employees were rewarded is irrelevant in view of 

the fact every employee who decided not to strike received a 

bonus." Rubatex Corp., supra, 101 LRRM at 2662. 

In its brief Defendant cites Portland Willamette Co. 

v. NLRB, 534 F.2d 1331 (9th CA,1976), 92 LRRM 2113 as being 

instructive with respect to the application of Great Dane 
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principles to the facts in the present case. After the NLRB 

found an 8(a)(3) violation where the employer had made a 

retroactive wage increase to employees who had worked during 

a certain period and who were still on the payroll at a 

specified date, the Court set aside the order . The court 

found that the employer's conduct was not inherently des truc-

tive and that there was ample business justification for 

implementing the retroactive wage increase: 

Those cases finding an employer's conduct in~erently 
destructive, bearing their own indicia of intent, are 
cases involving conduct with far reaching effects which 
would hinder futu re bargaining, or conduct which discrim­
inates solely upon the basis of participation in strikes 
or union activity. Examples of inherently destructive 
activity are permanent discharge for participation in 
union activities, granting of superseniority to strike 
breakers , and other actions creating visible and con­
tinuing obstacles to the future exercise of employee 
rights. 

Portland Willamette Co., supra, 
92 LRRM at 2115 

As Defendant states, the Court found that the employer's 

action was limited to a particular instance and could have 

no continuing consequence such as the granting of super 

seniority. However, the Court also found that the: 

"Selection of persons for retroactive pay increases 
could not be said to have been based on whether or not 
they were strikers or nonstrikers as such." (Quoting 
the Administrative Law Judge) 

The facts in the present case are different . The 

24 employer's conduct in paying the twenty teachers discriminated 

25 solely on the basis of participation in the strike after 

26 June 3rd. The Court in Portland willamette found that there 

27 was not an 8 (a)(3) violation because: (1) the employers 

28 conduct did not discriminate solely on the basis of s trike 

29 activity, (2) because the employer had a legitimate business 

30 end to serve, and (3) because of other facts unique to that 

31 case. The same Court, in reviewing an 8(a)(1) violation 

32 found by the NLRB in 1980, held that granting a one-day 
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vacation to nurses who did not strike, who abandoned the 

2 strike, or who were hired during the strike, but not granting 

3 it to nurses who continued the strike was an unfair labor 

4 practice. In NLRB v. Swedish Hospital Medical Center, 104 
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LRRM 2751, 619 F. 2d 33 (9th CA, 1980), the Court stated, 

despite the hospital's argument that its action had a nominal 

effect on its employees' right to strike and was prompted by 

a desire to compensate non- strikers for added responsiblities: 

The grant of a one day ·vacation is.not so insignificant 
that the nurses will not reflect upon participating in 
future strikes. Similar benefits granted to union 
members who have chosen not t o strike have been held to 
unlawfully interfere with the right of those employees 
to s trike in the future. (Citing Great Dane Trailers , 
Erie Resistor, Rubatex, supra.) 

Swedish Hospital, supra, 
104 LRRM at 2752 

In Soule Glass and Glazinq Co. v. NLRB, 107 LRRM 2781, 

652 F.2d 1055 (1st CA, 1981) the Board was upheld in finding 

that the employer violated section 8(a}(1} when it granted 

wage increases to non-strikers, non-bargaining unit employees 

on the first day of a strike. In determining whether an 

interference with section 7 rights outweighed the company's 

business justification, the Court declared that, liThe relevant 

inquiry is whether the wage increase impermissibly discrim-

inated against the union by demonstrating for the future the 

special rewards which lie in store for employees who choose 

to refrain from protected strike activity, (Citing Aero-Motive, 

supra) and 'bringing horne in concrete fashion to those 

employees who were aware of it that it did not pay to become 

associated with the union,' (Citing Chanticleer Inc., 63 

LRRM 1237, 1966).11 

A recent case out of the Court of Appeals for the 

District of Columbia is worth noting. In George Banta Co. v. 

NLRB , 686 F.2d 10 (CA D.C. 1982), 110 LRRM 3351, the Court 
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held that the employer violated sections 8(a)(1) .nd 8(.)(3) 

by granting preferential reinstatement and seniority rights 

to returning employees who abandoned the strike before it 

ended. Strikers who were later reinstated were assigned to 

classifications deemed appropriate by the employer. The 

employer did not deny the discriminatory effect of the 

reinstatement practice, but rather, claimed that the practice 

gave no prospective benefits to the non-strikers as did the 

super seniority benefit granted by the employer in Erie 

Resistor. The Court rej ected that argument and commented: 

It defies reason to claim that while Erie Resistor bars 
employers from unlawfully favoring cross-overs with 
seniority benefits, the case is silent about rates of 
compensation . Whether the benefit is "current" or 
"prospective," the relevant question is whether the 
employer has illegally burdened the statutory right to 
strike by artificially dividing the work force into 
those who did not engage in strike activity and those 
who did. "Employees are henceforth divided into two 
camps: Those who stayed with t he union and those who 
returned before the end of the strike and thereby 
gained ... " (citing Erie Resistor.) Such divisions 
which stand lias an ever-present reminder of the dangers 
connected with striking and with union activities in 
general,1I id., may not be countenanced under the Act 
because the claimed business purpose does not outweigh 
the necessary harm to employee rights. See id . at 23 7 . 
In such cases, the nature of the particular benefit is 
irrelevant. 

George Banta Co"., supra, 
110 LRRM at 3357 

To the extent that it is poss ible to summarize the 

standards which may be extracted from the section 8(a)(1) 

and 8(a)(3) cases which have been cited in counsels' briefs 

and noted above, one could say that where the effect of the 

employer 's action upon section 7 rights is significant , 

motive is irrelevant. In that type of case the establishing 

of a legitimate business justification is of no avail. 

Where the effect is minor, however, the action will be 

deemed to be justified when significant and legitimate 

interests of the employer are shown. See generally, Motive 
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and Intent in the Commission of Unfair Labor Practices: The 

Supreme Court and the Fictive Formality, 77 Yale L.J. 1269 

(1968); and 52 Cornell L. Q. ~91, s~pra. Wher~ the action or 

conduct of the employe r has a destructive impact on employees' 

rights to engage in activities protected under section 7 of 

the NLRA, an unfair labor practice may be found even if the 

employer was motivated by a legitimate business desire. In 

general, conduct which treats union activists (strikers) in 

an inferior manner to non-union activitists (non-strikers) 

has a devastating or destructive impact. If the impact is 

only slight, to avoid the finding of an un fair labor practice, 

the employer must show it had a legitimate and substantial 

business reason for taking the action. Whether the reason 

was legitimate and substantial depends upon whether the 

business reason outweighs the harm to the employees, not 

upon the employer 's good intent or lack of bad intent. 

From the facts stipulated to in this case the conclu-

sion which seems logical is that Defendant's conduct in 

paying the twenty teachers for seventeen days which they did 

not work nor stand ready on call is inherently destructive 

of the rights of the remaining, striking teachers. Under 

the principles set forth in the Great Dane case and subsequent 

cases where those prinCiples have been interpreted and 

refined, that conclus i on seems inescapable. Even using the 

criteria of the Ninth Circuit in Portland Willamette, supra, 

cited by Defendant, the conduct complained of here appears 

inherently destructive . The conduct of Defendant will 

affect future bargaining because the realization will be 

present on the minds of union supporters that the employer 

will award special benefits to non-strikers, if the union 

decides a strike is necessary to promote its bargaining 

goals. A divisive wedge will have been driven between 
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6 
., 
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8 

9 

10 

II 

12 

i3 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

members of the union and work force, if the situation is not 

remedied. The action of Defendant discriminated solely on 

the basis of union activity, those who crossed the picket 

lines and agreed to work were singled out for special treat-

ment. The conduct created an unnecessary obstacle to any 

future concerted activities which the employees may choose 

to engage in, including collective bargaining and contract 

negotiations. Internal union affairs, it may be inferred, 

will be adversely affected if an employer is permitted to 

differentiate between union activists and non-activists. 

While it is unnecessary to , consider the employer's 

asserted legitimate and substantial business justifications 

and motivation, completeness of analysis would seem to 

require it. To the suggestion that the employer would have 

been perpetrating a fraud upon the ' twenty teachers if it had 

not paid them for eighteen days, suffice it to say that, 

unlike the facts in Portland Willamette, supra, Defendant 

was under no apparent obligation to pay them for more than 

19 one day. There was no obligation to pay them beyond lithe 

20 

21 

completion of the school year. 1I The school year ended when 

the trustees closed the schools. That the School District 

22 was faced with the prospect of losing $1.275 millon in state 

23 aid clearly explains its attempt t o open the schools; however, 

24 it does not justify disparate treatment toward strikers once 

25 it decided to close the schools. It is difficult to imagine 

26 that Missoula County High Schools would have been operated 

27 differently in subsequent years or have been adversely 

28 affected had the trustees not paid the returning teachers 

29 for the additional seventeen days after they decided to 

30 discontinue operations in June of 1981. There is no evidence 

31 that the schools did not function as they always had from 

32 
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the fall of 1981 on. The challenged payments were not made 

2 until September 1982. At most Defendant would have been 

3 placed in the position of defending an alleged breach of 

4 contract action brought by one teacher (and perhaps joined 

5 in by nineteen other teachers) based on, at best, ~ disput-

6 able claim. When one weighs the effect of the sum of money 

7 which the Employer paid to the non-striking teachers (plus 

8 or minus $40,000 would be a reasonable approximation) and 

9 the message that payment sent to the strikers, against the 

10 Employer's proffered business justification, it appears that 

II the desire to reward non- strikers outweighed the Employer's 

12 des ire to resist having a substantial amount taken from its 

13 treasury. 

14 Even if it were possible to find that the Employer's 

15 discriminatory conduct had only a IIcomparatively slight,. 

16 adverse effect on the striker's section 39-31-201 MeA rights, 

17 the harm to the teacher's right to bargain COllectively and 

18 engage in other concerted activities in the future far 

19 outweighs any legitimate business justification the trustees 

20 may have perceived. There was no substantial and legitimate 

21 business justification for the Employer'S action. 

22 CONCLVS ION OF LAW 

23 By its action in paying those twenty teachers who said 

24 they would work, seventeen of whom worked one day, and 

25 failing to pay the remainder of the teachers, Defendant 

20 violated sections 39-31-401(1) and (3) MCA. 

27 RECOMMENDED ORDER 

28 Based on the stipulated facts and conclusion of law 

29 herein, IT IS ORDERED that the Missoula County High School 

30 District, its Trustees, officers, agents and representatives 

31 shall: 

32 1. Cease and desist from discriminating against any 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

of its employees, represented by the Missoula County High 

School Education Association. MEA, in violation of section 

39-31-401(3) MeA and from interfering, restraining or coercing 

them in the exercise of thei r 39-31-201 MeA rights, in 

violation of 39-31-401(1) MCA . 

2. Make those teachers whole who were not paid for 

7 the seventeen days after June 4, 1981 by paying them the 

8 amount they would have received had they been paid in accor-

9 dance with the terms of the payment made to the twenty 

10 teachers who were paid for those "seventeen days. 

II 

12 

J3 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

3. Pay interest on the amounts due in No. 2 above in 

accordance with the method adopted by the NLRB in Florida 

Steel Corp., 231 NLRB 651, 96 LRRM 1070 (1977), and in 

accordanc e with the formula for computing interest due 

adopted by the Board of Personnel Appeals in Bruce Young 

v. City o f Great Falls, Remedial Order, issued January, 

1983. 

4 . Post in c onspicuous locations where teachers 

19 regularly congregate in each of Defendant's high schools the 

20 attached notice .r.narked "Appendix. 1i 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

5 . Notify this Board within twenty days from receipt 

of its final order what steps have been taken to comply with 

such order. 

NOTICE 

Exceptions to these findings, conclusion and recomrnend-

26 ation may be filed within twenty days of service. If excep-

27 t ions are not filed the recommended o rder will become the 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

final order of the Board. 

Dated this ~ay of December, 1983. 

BOARD OF PERSONNEL APPEALS 

;Bearing Examiner 
-z'o-
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20 
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" 

I 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

The undersigned does certify that a true and correct 
~~)Df this do~ment was mailed to the following on the 

Xrlay of &:/~ ... Fe __ , . 1983: 

Jeremy G. Thane, Esq. and 
Molly Shepherd, Esq. 
WORDEN, THANE & HAINES, P.C. 
P.O. Box 4747 
Missoula, MT 59806 

Emilie Loring 
HILLEY & LORING, P.C. 
1713 Tenth Avenue South 
Great Falls, MT 59405 
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